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Defendants Samuel Wyly and Donald R. Miller, Jr., in his Capacity as the Independent 

Executor of the Will and Estate of Charles J. Wyly, Jr., respectfully submit this memorandum of 

law in support of their renewed motion for judgment as a matter of law pursuant to Rule 50(b) of 

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, or alternatively, a new trial pursuant to Rule 59(a)(1)(A); 

and a for a stay of enforcement of the judgment against the Estate pursuant to Rule 62(b). 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 The SEC tried this case on a sweeping theory of liability on nine claims against Sam 

Wyly and the Estate of Charles Wyly, premised on violations of seven different statutory 

provisions and eight separate SEC rules, including both direct and aiding and abetting violations. 

At the close of evidence, the Court narrowed the SEC’s case in just one respect, ruling as a 

matter of law that the plain text of the SEC’s own regulations barred a significant subset of its 

Section 16 claims. The Court was right to narrow the SEC’s case in that one respect—but it 

should have gone much farther than that. 

 The SEC failed to provide proof on required elements of seven more claims, for three key 

reasons. First, the SEC did not prove the scienter required for a liability finding on a Section 

10(b) fraud claim. The supposed scienter “smoking gun” that the SEC heavily relied on at 

summary judgment turned out to be illusory—the Defendants never even saw the document—

and no other credible scienter evidence was presented to the jury. Second, the SEC’s Section 

17(a) claim fails as a matter of law because the only evidence presented to the jury related to 

alleged misconduct in the reporting of completed securities transactions; the SEC presented no 

evidence of fraud “in the offer or sale of any securities” as required by the plain terms of the 

statute. Third, the SEC’s numerous claims alleging incorrect reporting of “beneficial ownership” 

of offshore securities were based on the flawed premise that the Wylys’ mere influence over 

trustee investment decisions was tantamount to control over the trustees.  
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 The jury’s verdicts on these claims require correction—and careful attention—because 

they formed the basis for a $276 million disgorgement award. At the very least, the Court should 

grant a new trial on these claims to prevent injustice, since the jury’s findings on these claims 

were against the great weight of the credible evidence presented at trial. The Estate further 

request that the Court stay enforcement of the judgment against it pending a decision on this 

motion; enforcement of the judgment against Sam Wyly is already effectively stayed. 

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

The SEC filed its Complaint in this case (ECF No. 1) on July 29, 2010. As relevant here, 

the Complaint alleged nine claims against Defendants Sam Wyly and the Estate of Charles 

Wyly, under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and SEC Rule 10b-5 thereunder (the “First 

Claim”); Section 17(a) of the Securities Act (the “Fourth Claim”); Sections 5(a) and (c) of the 

Securities Act (the “Fifth Claim”); Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act, and SEC Rules 13d-1 and 

13d-2 thereunder (the “Sixth Claim” and “Eighth Claim”); Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, 

and SEC Rules 16a-2 and 16a-3 thereunder (the “Ninth Claim”); Section 14(a) of the Exchange 

Act, and SEC Rules 14a-3 and 14a-9 thereunder (the “Eleventh Claim” and “Twelfth Claim”); 

and Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act, and SEC Rule 13a-1 thereunder (the “Thirteenth 

Claim”).1 These nine claims arose from the creation and operation of offshore entities, located 

largely in the Isle of Man, which at various times held or traded in securities issued by public 

companies associated with the Wylys. 

The jury trial on these claims began on April 1, 2014, nearly four years after the 

Complaint was filed. After a five-week trial, on May 5, 2014, Defendants orally moved for 

judgment as a matter of law pursuant to Rule 50(a) on eight of the SEC’s nine claims. Tr. at 

                                                 
1 The Complaint also alleged a Section 10(b) insider trading claim against the Wylys. The Court 
dismissed that claim on July 10, 2014 (ECF No. 405) following a separate bench trial. 
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2968:23-2986:3.2 Specifically, Defendants sought judgment as a matter of law on the First 

Claim, Fourth Claim, Sixth Claim, Eighth Claim, Ninth Claim (albeit only in part), Eleventh 

Claim, Twelfth Claim, and Thirteenth Claim.3 With the exception of the Defendants’ motion 

related to the Ninth Claim, which the Court granted orally, the Court reserved judgment on all of 

these motions. Id. at 2983:2-9; 2990:2-24. The jury subsequently reached a verdict finding the 

Defendants liable on all of the remaining claims on May 12, 2014. Id. at 3297:17-3311:21. 

The trial in this case was followed by a lengthy period of discovery and hearings on the 

various remedies the SEC sought for the violations found by the jury. These remedies-related 

proceedings did not conclude until February 2, 2015. The Court finally entered judgment against 

Defendants on the jury trial claims on February 26, 2015, triggering Defendants’ 28-day deadline 

to renew their oral motions for judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(b) (requiring 

renewed motions to be filed by “[n]o later than 28 days after the entry of judgment”); see Tr. at 

3317:1-21 (reserving right to renew motions after judgment). 

LEGAL STANDARD 

Rule 50(b) permits this Court to direct the entry of judgment as a matter of law following 

the conclusion of a jury trial. Judgment as a matter of law pursuant to Rule 50(b) is appropriate 

if, after reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the moving party, “there can be but 

one conclusion as to the verdict that reasonable jurors could have reached.” Izzarelli v. R.J. 

                                                 
 
2 The relevant portions of the jury and bench trial transcripts are reproduced as Exhibits A and B, 
respectively, in the accompanying Appendix. 
3 In addition to seeking judgment on all or part of these eight jury claims, Defendants also used 
the occasion of the charge conference to reiterate their previous legal arguments that (1) the 
Estate was entitled to judgment because the SEC’s claims against Charles Wyly did not survive 
his death, and (2) the applicable statute of limitations, 28 U.S.C. § 2462, barred any claim for 
disgorgement of profits associated with pre-February 1, 2001 violations. The Court has already 
ruled on these legal issues. Defendants mention them here only to make clear that they in no way 
intend to waive their legal arguments regarding the survival of the claims against Charles Wyly 
or the applicability of the Section 2462 statute of limitations in SEC disgorgement actions. 
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Reynolds Tobacco Co., 731 F.3d 164, 167 (2d Cir. 2013). Alternatively, the Court may grant a 

new trial pursuant to Rule 59(a)(1)(A) “for any reason for which a new trial has heretofore been 

granted in an action at law in federal court,” including because the jury’s verdict was against the 

weight of the evidence. See Song v. Ives Laboratories, Inc., 957 F.2d 1041 (2d Cir. 1992).   

Rule 62(b) provides that “[o]n appropriate terms for the opposing party’s security, the 

court may stay the execution of a judgment—or any proceedings to enforce it—pending 

disposition of” a Rule 50(b) motion. The Court may grant a stay without security in its discretion 

in appropriate circumstances. See River Oaks Marine, Inc. v. Town of Grand Island, No. 89-CV-

1016S, 1992 WL 406813, at *1 (W.D.N.Y. Dec. 10. 1992) (granting stay and noting Second 

Circuit’s analogous holding that a stay pending appeal may be granted without any bond where 

the stay “does not unduly danger the judgment creditor’s interest in ultimate recovery”); see also 

Frankel v. ICD Holdings S.A., 168 F.R.D. 19, 22 (S.D.N.Y. 1996) (listing factors to consider). 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Trial Evidence Was Insufficient to Permit the Jury to Find Scienter as 
Required Under Section 10(b) (First Claim) 

It is well established that “[l]iability for securities fraud [under Section 10(b) of 

Exchange Act] requires proof of scienter, defined as a mental state embracing intent to deceive, 

manipulate, or defraud.” SEC v. Obus, 693 F.3d 276, 286 (2d Cir. 2012) (internal quotation 

marks and citations omitted). “Negligence is not a sufficiently culpable state of mind to support” 

Section 10(b) liability; however, “scienter may be established through a showing of reckless 

disregard for the truth, that is, conduct which is highly unreasonable and which represents an 

extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care.” Id. The trial evidence fell short of 

permitting the jury to reasonably find recklessness, let alone intentional misconduct. 
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The Section 10(b) fraud claim in this case piggy-backed on the SEC’s claims for 

violations of several strict liability disclosure statutes—including Sections 13, 14, and 16 of the 

Exchange Act.4 The essence of the fraud claim, as it was explained to the jury by the SEC, was 

that the Defendants violated these various statutes and regulations thereunder (all of which 

require disclosure in some for or another of a person’s “control” over securities, using several 

different technical definitions of that term) either intentionally or recklessly. See Tr. 3050:16-

3051:7. While an intentional or reckless violation of these complex statutes could theoretically 

violate Section 10(b), see, e.g., SEC v. Drexel Burnham Lambert Inc., 837 F. Supp. 587, 608 

(S.D.N.Y. 1993) (explaining that a violation of Section 13(d) plus scienter may constitute a 

violation of Section 10(b)), cases in which the SEC has successfully proven intentional violations 

of such provisions appear rare. See, e.g., SEC v. Teo, No. 04-CV-1815 (SDW), 2009 WL 

1684467, at *1 (D.N.J. June 12, 2009) (SEC proved intent where defendant admitted that “he 

always maintained trading authority over the Trust,” contrary to his SEC filings). 

In this case, the SEC put no plausible proof before the jury that Sam and Charles Wyly 

actually knew their SEC reporting position—that they did not “control” offshore entity-held 

stock for SEC reporting purposes—was false, or that they acted with reckless disregard for the 

                                                 
4 The SEC claimed at the charge conference that the fraud alleged in the Section 10(b) and 
Section 17(a) claims was not limited to the disclosure violations, but also “include[d] the Section 
5 violation.” Tr. at 2981:5-10. But the jury was never told—either by the SEC or by the Court—
that fraud liability could be imposed for a negligent, reckless, or knowling violation of Section 5. 
To the contrary, the SEC’s fraud arguments to the jury focused on reporting. Moreover, after the 
jury trial, the SEC sought and obtained separate monetary remedies for (1) the Section 5 claim 
on the one hand (approximately $24 million total from both Defendants including pre-judgment 
interest), and (2) the non-disclosure and fraud claims on the other (approximately $276 million 
total from both Defendants including pre-judgment interest, under the tax disgorgement theory). 
Thus, the Court’s analysis of the Section 10(b) and 17(a) claims here should properly focus on 
the non-disclosure fraud claims as separate from strict liability Section 5 violations. 
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truth with regard to that reporting position.5 Rather, the trial exhibits and testimony all supported 

the Defendants’ contention that they believed the ability to make recommendations to trustees 

did not rise to the level of “control” required to make them responsible for reporting offshore-

held securities as their own in various SEC filings. Even the SEC’s own star witness, former 

Wyly securities lawyer and advisor Michael French, admitted under cross-examination that he 

“never believed that [the Wylys] had any concerns about” the legality of the offshore system 

from an SEC reporting standpoint. Tr. 1920:4-8. Mr. French further testified that he likewise 

never harbored any doubts about the accuracy of the Wylys’ SEC filings. Id. at 1922:15-24. 

Indeed, Mr. French established his own offshore entities, made specific investment 

recommendations to trustees just like the Wylys did, and still to this day believes that his own 

SEC reporting position was justified. Id. 1937:18-1939:6; 1943:2-18. 

The only document the SEC has ever cited as evidence that the Wylys knew, or should 

have known, their legal position regarding who retained “control” over offshore securities 

rendered their SEC filings false is a December 6, 1991 memo written by a first-year lawyer 

named Marilyn Post. See PX-10 (reproduced in accompanying Appendix as Exhibit C). At the 

summary judgment stage, the Court permitted the SEC’s Section 10(b) claim to go forward, 

reasoning that this memo could be construed as a warning against making overly-specific 

investment recommendations to trustees. Summary Judgment Opinion, ECF 190, at 39; see PX-

10 at JWLLP-SEC01469. At trial, however, the SEC presented no evidence that either Sam or 

Charles Wyly received this memo.  

                                                 
5 The SEC’s evidence related to the state of mind of Charles Wyly, who was never deposed and 
died long before trial, was particularly scant. No reasonable jury could have concluded from the 
SEC’s trial evidence that Charles Wyly acted even recklessly, let alone intentionally. 
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The Marilyn Post memo was prepared for Mr. French, and is addressed only to Mr. 

French. Mr. French vaguely testified to being “pretty sure” he gave it to a family representative, 

and also stated on direct examination that there was also “a pretty good chance” he also gave it to 

Sam Wyly. Tr. at 1732:25-1733:8. On cross examination, however, Mr. French admitted that 

while he “may” have given it to a family representative, he did not actually “recall giving it to 

Sam or Charles.” Id. at 2067:17-22.6 No witness testified, or even suggested, that the family 

representive who “may” have received this memo passed it on to either Wyly brother. And Mr. 

French readily conceded that he never discussed the memo with Sam or Charles Wyly. Id. 

at 2067:23-2068:2; 2114:11-23. In other words, while the Post memo warned against the very 

conduct that became the focus of this trial, the Defendants never received that warning.  

Since no evidence showed that either Defendant received the supposed “smoking gun” 

document that the SEC previously relied on at summary judgment, the SEC focused elsewhere 

during the portion of its summation discussing scienter. The SEC argument, in full, was: 

The next question relates to Sam Wyly’s intent. For this charge the SEC is 
required to prove that the defendants either acted with the intent to deceive, 
manipulate, or defraud, or that they acted recklessly with a conscious disregard 
for the truth. Here the defendants decided to create this system knowing that it has 
to be secret to provide its asset protection and tax benefits and knowing that they 
continued to influence the investment decisions of the trusts for years. Here we 
have the defendants personally signing D&Os that said something different than 
the facts as they knew them, something different than what was in their own 
financial statements prepared by their own employees. Here we have the 
defendants hiring a Cayman Islands employee to further conceal their control. 
And here we have the defendants taking advantage of the secrecy that flowed 
from their offshore system and the decisions of where to buy and sell stock, where 
to do collars, where to do equity swaps without anyone knowing.  All of this 
evidence, ladies and gentlemen, establishes the intent that you will be asked to 
find. 

 

                                                 
6 Insofar as the pending motion seeks a new trial, the Court is free to weigh the credibility of the 
testimony of Mr. French and other witnesses. See Song, 957 F.2d at 1047. 
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Id. at 3052:18-3053:13. But none of the cited evidence suffices to demonstrate what Section 

10(b) in fact required the SEC to prove to the jury: That Sam and Charles Wyly knew, or acted 

recklessly in failing to learn, that making investment recommendations to trustees made them the 

owners of offshore entity-held securities for SEC reporting purposes.7 

First, the SEC’s argument that Defendants were motivated to obtain asset protection and 

tax benefits through the secrecy associated with the offshore system is legally irrelevant. Motive 

and opportunity cannot by themselves prove scienter. See Indiana Elec. Workers’ Pension Trust 

Fund IBEW v. Shaw Group, Inc., 537 F.3d 527, 533-34 (5th Cir. 2008). Second, the claim that 

Defendants knew they “influence[d] the investment decisions of the trusts for years” simply begs 

the question whether Defendants knew or should have known that exercising such influence was 

inconsistent with their SEC position.8 Third, and finally there is no inconsistency between the 

Wylys’ D&O questionaires disclaiming beneficial ownership over offshore securities (that is, 

representing that the trustees ultimately controlled all investment decisions), and family financial 

                                                 
7 To the extent the SEC may contend this evidence sufficed to show reckless misconduct, no 
witness—not even a fact witness—ever explain what the Wylys should have done differently to 
determine whether their SEC reporting position was incorrect. The appropriate standard of care 
that a corporate insider should follow to ensure full SEC compliance is, obviously, not a matter 
within the common knowledge of the average juror. See SEC v. Ginder, 752 F.3d 569, 575 
(2d Cir. 2014) (reversing and dismissing Section 17(a) claim because the “jury could not do 
more than speculate as to how a broker in O’Meally’s position breached a standard of care”). 
The SEC failed to provide any factual basis that could have allowed the jury to make an 
informed decision regarding recklessness. 
 
8 Defendants also contend that the SEC is wrong as a matter of law that mere influence over 
trustee investment decisions amounts to control for Section 13 reporting purposes. See Part III 
below. Mr. French expressed the same view before the jury during his SEC-sponsored testimony. 
Tr. at 1937:18-1939:6; 1943:2-18. Obviously, a finding by the Court that Defendants were not 
required to report beneficial ownership under Section 13 would require a directed judgment for 
Defendants on the Section 10(b) claim to the extent that claim is based on knowing violations of 
Section 13. 
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statements which merely acknowledged that members of the Wyly family were the ultimate 

economic beneficiaries of the offshore entities’ assets.9 

In sum, the SEC offered insufficient evidence to permit the jury to reach a verdict against 

Defendants on the Section 10(b) claim, and the Court should direct judgment for Defendants, or 

alternatively, grant a new trial on this claim.10 

II. The Trial Evidence Was Insufficient to Permit the Jury to Find Fraud “In the Offer 
or Sale of Any Securities” as Required Under Section 17(a) (Fourth Claim) 

Perhaps recognizing the weakness of its scienter evidence, the SEC also sought a verdict 

under Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, two prongs of which require only a finding of 

negligence rather than of scienter. See SEC v. Ginder, 752 F.3d 569, 574 (2d Cir. 2014). 

However, the scienter-vs.-negligence distinction is not the only difference between Section 10(b) 

and Section 17(a). Section 17(a) only reaches misconduct “in the offer or sale of . . . securities.” 

15 U.S.C. § 77q(a). This “in the offer or sale of any securities” element distinguishes the 

provision from Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, which reaches a broader range of conduct “in 

connection with the purchase or sale of any security.” Id. § 78j.  

The alleged misconduct at issue during the jury phase of this case consisted largely 

of failures to properly report completed securities transactions.11 This misconduct was, at most, 

remotely “in connection with” securities purchases and sales, and hence (albeit remotely) within 
                                                 
9 This SEC argument all but invited the jury to ignore the Court’s instructions regarding the 
significant differences between the securities law definition of “beneficial ownership” and the 
trust law concept of a “beneficiary” of assets in a trust. 
 
10 The jury’s Section 10(b) and 17(a) liability findings were also contrary to the law to the extent 
they were premised on a “scheme” liability theory, since the SEC introduced no evidence of any 
inherently deceptive conduct by the Defendants independent of their alleged misstatements 
regarding beneficial ownership. See Public Pension Fund Group v. KV Pharma. Co., 679 F.3d 
972, 987 (8th Cir. 2012); Lentel v. Merrill Lynch & Co., 396 F.3d 161, 177 (2d Cir. 2005). 
 
11 See Footnote 4 above. 
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the purview of Section 10(b). But none of it occurred “in” the course of any securities 

transaction. Hence, the SEC’s Section 17(a) claim should never have been submitted to the jury. 

The D.C. Circuit’s decision in SEC v. Savoy Indus., Inc., 587 F.2d 1149 (D.C. Cir. 1978) 

is instructive here. In that case, the court recognized that “[t]he offer or sale requirement of 

Section 17(a) does not . . . have . . . a simpl[e] application” when the fraud allegation is premised 

on a violation of a statute requiring post-sale disclosures, like Section 13(d) or Section 16(a) of 

the Exchange Act. Id. at 1171-72. The court went on to express serious doubts about whether a 

Section 17(a) violation could ever be premised on conduct after a sale, and remanded to the 

district court for additional factual findings on whether “there was still an offer or sale in 

progress” on the date of the defendant’s allegedly false Schedule 13D filing at issue. Id. at 

1172.12 

Crucially, the SEC presented no evidence during the trial to link any alleged 

misrepresentations or omissions by the defendants to an offer or sale in progress at the time of 

the misstatement. Indeed, the SEC’s summation of the evidence regarding this element, which 

follows in its entirety, provided no meaningful explanation of how the jury could reasonably find 

this element to be satisfied: “This brings us to the second claim that you are going to be asked to 

decide. This claim talks about things that happened in the offer or sale a security. The same 

evidence—the false filings, the transactions, the trades, the purchases and sales of securities— 

that we talked about in the prior claim satisfies this element as well.” Tr. at 3056:6-11.  

                                                 
12 United States v. Naftalin, 441 U.S. 768 (1979), which the SEC invoked during the charge 
conference, Tr. at 2967:11-2968:8, is not to the contrary. In that case, the Court explained that 
Section 17(a)’s requirement of misconduct “in the offer or sale of any securities” encompasses 
“the entire selling process.” Naftalin, 441 U.S. at 772-73. The requirement was easily satisfied 
there because the defendant defrauded a stock broker during the sale process by falsely 
reprenting that he owned stock which in fact did not belong to him. Id. at 770. 
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In sum, the SEC offered insufficient evidence to permit the jury to reach a verdict against 

Defendants on the Section 17(a) claim, and the Court should direct judgment for Defendants, or 

alternatively, grant a new trial on this claim.13 

III. The Trial Evidence Was Insufficient to Permit the Jury to Find “Beneficial 
Ownership” Under Section 13 (Multiple Claims) 

Five of the SEC’s claims—the Sixth Claim, Eighth Claim, Eleventh Claim, Twelfth 

Claim, and Thirteenth Claim in the Complaint—related to the Defendants’ purported 

nondisclosure of their “beneficial ownership” of securities, as defined under Section 13 of the 

Exchange Act. As explained above, two more claims—the First Claim under Section 10(b) and 

the Fourth Claim under Section 17(a)—turned in part on a Section 13 violation plus scienter or 

negligence theory. Defendants are entitled to judgment on all of these claims because the SEC’s 

evidence on Section 13 “beneficial ownership” was legally insufficient.14 

                                                 
13 The jury’s finding of liability under Section 17(a)(2) was further impermissible because the 
SEC introduced no evidence that either Defendant “obtain[ed] money or property by means of” 
false statements regarding beneficial ownership of offshore securities. 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2). 
The SEC misled the jury during summation by arguing that this element was satisfied by an SEC 
expert’s mere adding up of “$500 million flowing from these transactions.” Tr. at 3057:3-11. 
The problem with this argument is that the transactions were not the alleged violations. Rather, 
the violations consisted of allegedly false reporting of the transactions, and neither Defendant 
obtained money or property by means of these technical reporting violations. To the extent the 
SEC may theorize that abstract “tax benefits” were the “money or property” obtained through the 
scheme, no such argument was made to the jury, and in any event, the plain text of Section 
17(a)(2)’s “money or property” element does not permit liability to turn on such an indirect, 
intangible benefit theory. 
 
14 The Section 10(b) and 17(a) claims were also premised in part on underlying violations of 
Section 16. However, the Court granted Defendants’ Rule 50(a) motion related to Section 16, 
concluding that the Wylys were not beneficial owners, for Section 16 purposes, of offshore 
securities held by so-called “settlor” or “grantor” trusts. Tr. at. 2995:17-24. Thus, if the Court 
were to grant Defendants’ Rule 50(b) motion regarding the Section 13 “beneficial ownership” 
claims discussed above, the $276 million non-disclosure/fraud disgorgement award would have 
to be reduced significantly, since the only conceiveable “unjust profits” remaining would be 
those associated with the so-called “non-grantor” trusts, and then only under a Section 16 
liability theory. 
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Section 13(d) and related provisions impose reporting requirements regarding the 

“beneficial ownership” of securities in public companies. 15 U.S.C. § 78m(d)(1). The term 

“beneficial ownership” is not defined anywhere in this or any other securities statute. The 

applicable definition instead comes from SEC Rule 13d-3(a), which states: 

For purposes of section 13(d) and 13(g) of the Act a beneficial owner of a security 
includes any person who, directly or indirectly, through any contract, 
arrangement, understanding, relationship, or otherwise has or shares: 
 
(1) Voting power, which includes the power to vote, or to direct the voting of, 
such security; and/or, 
 
(2) Investment power which includes the power to dispose, or to direct the 
disposition of, such security. 
 

17 C.F.R. § 240.13d-3(a).15 Although this definition is broad, see Egghead.Com, Inc. v. 

Brookhaven Capital Mgm’t Co., 340 F.3d 79, 83-84 (2d Cir. 2003),16 it is not unlimited. See CSX 

Corp. v. Children’s Inv. Fund Mgm’t (UK LLP), 654 F.3d 276, 288 (2d Cir. 2011) (Winter, J., 

concurring); Wellman v. Dickinson, 682 F.2d 355, 366 (2d Cir. 1982) (Van Graafeiland, J., 

concurring in part and dissenting in part) (“[Section 13] was not . . . designed to provide the SEC 

with an amorphous regulatory power, the boundaries of which preclude definition by the most 

skilled attorneys.”). 

 The terms of the SEC’s regulatory definition are not broad enough to require a person 

who merely exercise influence over a trustee’s investment decisions to declare himself the 

“beneficial owner” of all trust assets. Judge Winter’s concurrence in CSX Corp., the most recent 

Second Circuit decision regarding this definition, explains why. 654 F.3d at 288. Judge Winter 

                                                 
15 This definition is derived from the statute’s legislative history. See Wellman v. Dickinson, 682 
F.2d 355, 366 (2d Cir. 1982) (quoting House and Senate reports). 
 
16 As Judge Leval’s opinion in Egghead.Com explains, this broad definition was adopted to serve 
Congress’s purpose of “alert[ing] the marketplace” to “potential shift[s] in corporate control.” 
340 F.3d at 84. The alleged misconduct in this case in no way implicated the statute’s purpose. 
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reasoned there that a total-return equity swap agreement did not render the long party the 

beneficial owner of securities purchased by its short counterparty upon execution of the 

agreement, despite the high degree of likelihood that the short counterparty would, in fact, 

purchase the referenced securities as a hedge upon execution. Judge Winter likened this situation 

of de facto influence to that of a weekly stock advice columnist whose advice reliably causes 

investors to buy and sell certain stocks. Judge Winter explained that “[n]o one would dream” of 

calling the columnist a beneficial owner because of his influence over investment decisions 

ultimately made by other persons. Id. at 298-99. 

The evidence presented by the SEC in this case showed de facto influence—not “power” 

to control trustee investment decisions.17 The crucial question, according to Judge Winter’s CSX 

concurrence, is whether the influenced parties—here, the trustees of offshore trusts benefitting 

Wyly family members—retained “complete freedom to . . . act in [their] self-interest with regard 

to purchases and sales.” Id. at 299. There can be no reasonable dispute in this case about whether 

the trustees relinquished such freedom, since the jury heard deposition testimony from six 

trustees. All six of the trustee witnesses consistently testified that they never relinquished their 

freedom to make investment and voting decisions for the trusts in their own sole discretion, 

despite having frequently (though not exclusively) relied on Wyly-initiated investment and 

voting recommendations. See JX-1, at 129:12-142:19 (deposition testimony of Shaun Cairns); 

JX-2, at 365:19-366:06 (deposition testimony of Francis Webb); JX-3, at 226:13-228:24 

(deposition testimony of David Harris); JX-4, at 340:21-341:16 (deposition testimony of Andrew 

                                                 
17 To Defendants knowledge, there is no prior published case in which a finding of Section 13 
beneficial ownership turned on the mere exercise of influence over independent, corporate 
trustees such as the Isle of Man trustees. SEC v. Teo, No. 04-CV-1815(SDW)(MCA), 2010 WL 
3184349, at *1 (D.N.J. Aug. 10, 2010), which the SEC has frequently relied on, is far afield from 
this case. There, the defendant admitted at a deposition that he, and no one else, directly traded 
securities on behalf of trusts for which his wife and sister-in-law served as the trustees. Id. at *3. 
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Wallis); JX-5, at 228:3-18 (deposition testimony of David Bester); JX-6, at 88:20-90:8 

(deposition testimony of Mark Lewin).18 No witness—not even Mr. French—testified that a 

contrary “understanding” was reached with any of these offshore trustees.  

In sum, because the evidence was legally insufficient to show that the Wylys were 

“beneficial owners” of offshore securities for Section 13 purposes, the Court should direct 

judgment on the SEC’s claims premised on a Section 13 beneficial ownership violation theory, 

or alternatively, grant a new trial on these claims.19 

IV. Enforcement of the Judgment Against the Estate Should Be Stayed Pending 
Resolution of this Motion 

Defendants request that the Court immediately issue an order pursuant to Rule 62(b) 

staying enforcement of the judgment against the Estate pending the resolution of this motion. 

Under the circumstances of this case, no bond or other formal security posting is required to 

protect the SEC’s interest in ultimate recovery against the Estate. See River Oaks Marine, 1992 

WL 406813, at *1; cf. Texaco Inc. v. Pennzoil Co., 784 F.2d 1133, 1155 (2d Cir. 1986) (no bond 

is required to obtain a stay pending appeal where “due to unusual circumstances” a stay would 

not “unduly endanger[]” the judgment creditor), rev’d on other grounds, 481 U.S. 1 (1987).  

                                                 
18 The relevant portions of these deposition transcripts are reproduced as Exhibits D through I in 
the accompanying Appendix. 
 
19 The SEC’s Section 13-based aiding and abetting claims—the Eighth Claim, Twelfth Claim, 
and Thirteenth claims—also fail because there was absolutely no evidence put before the jury 
that the Wylys had knowledge of the primary violations, particularly with regard to alleged false 
and omitted trustee SEC filings. See SEC v. Apuzzo, 689 F.3d 204, 213 n.11 (2d Cir. 2012). And 
the SEC’s Section 13-based claims related to alleged false representations regarding beneficial 
ownership in proxy statements—the Eleventh and Twelfth claims—likewise fail because the 
SEC provided no evidence that the misstatements were material in the proxy context. See Mills v. 
Electric Auto-Lite Co., 396 U.S. 375, 383 (1970) (discussing materiality requirement). To the 
contrary, the only evidence was that the Wylys were overwhelmingly reelected to the board of 
Michaels Stores after they made corrective disclosures in 2005. Tr. at 2042:16-2043:7. 
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The Court’s February 26, 2015 opinion regarding the SEC’s proposed judgment language 

(ECF No. 590) recognized that the SEC is prohibited from seeking to enforce the judgment 

against any Estate assets that are also part of Caroline Wyly’s bankruptcy estate.20 The Estate’s 

remaining assets are plainly insufficient to provide a bond. The Estate faces an over $100 million 

SEC judgment, whereas the Estate’s total assets in 2011—not counting prior liabilities or legal 

expenses incurred since then in defending this case—were just $34 million. Tr. 3357:3558:7; see 

Frankel, 168 F.R.D. at 22 (recognizing that impossibility or impracticality of posting security is 

a factor to consider in determining the conditions for a stay pursuant to Rule 62(b)). 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ renewed motion for judgment as a matter of law, 

or alternatively for a new trial, should be granted; and enforcement of the judgment against the 

Estate should be stayed pending disposition of this motion. 

 

                                                 
20 No additional Rule 62(b) stay of the judgment against Sam Wyly is needed at the present time. 
The Court’s recent opinion recognized that Sam Wyly’s bankruptcy effectively stays 
enforcement of the judgment against him.  
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